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1. Letter from the Chairman 

Dear fellow shareholders,   

On behalf of the board, management and staff of Montezuma Mining it is my pleasure to thank you again 

for your support over the past year.   

Over the past 12 months Montezuma Mining has continued to face a difficult macro-economic 

environment and an investment market that is not overly supportive for junior explorers and emerging 

producers.   

Fortunately Montezuma Mining has maintained a strong balance sheet and positive cash position that has 

ensured your company has been able to address the market challenges and continue to execute its growth 

strategy.  Unlike many other junior explorers, Montezuma Mining has been able to continue funding work 

on our Butcherbird manganese and copper project without having to raise capital and dilute 

shareholders.  You will find a detailed report on the work done later in the Annual Report.   

Our Peak Hill Gold Project remains under an option which if exercised on current terms should have the 

dual effect of bringing significant value to Montezuma Mining over the medium term, while also delivering 

further cash in the short term.   

In line with the company’s new growth strategy to leverage Montezuma’s strong cash financial position and 

build a diversified resource asset base, many potential investment and acquisition targets were reviewed 

during the year, but none of the projects met our strict investment criteria.  We are continuing to review 

projects and in recent months have received a number of interesting approaches from project owners and 

intermediaries.   

The company is very fortunate to have a highly competent and disciplined executive team consisting of 

Mike Moore as CEO and Justin Brown as Executive Director. I would like to thank them both for their efforts 

over the past year.  In addition I would like to thank the continued efforts and dedication of our staff. 

Montezuma Mining enters the 2013/2014 financial year with a strong cash position, a disciplined and 

experienced executive team, good projects in Western Australia at various stages of development, and a 

commitment to maximise shareholder value from our available resources.  I am confident that the 

company is well placed to grow shareholder value over the next 12months through the development of our 

existing projects, acquisition of new projects, or possibly both. 

Yours sincerely 

Seamus Cornelius 

Chairman 
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2. Review of Operations 

2.1. Strategy and Objectives 

The Company’s primary objective continues to be 

achieving returns for shareholders through 

selected strategic acquisitions targeted 

exploration programs. 

In line with this primary objective, in early 2013 

the Board approved a new growth strategy to 

leverage Montezuma’s strong cash position to 

build a diversified resource asset base. In light of 

the prevailing market conditions the company 

believes that suitable strategic opportunities will 

arise. In particular, assets that will deliver near 

term production while the company progresses 

its current portfolio of projects are being sought. 

A number of opportunities have been assessed 

and not progressed while the company is 

currently considering several opportunities that 

have the potential to be aligned with the company’s strategy. 

This new strategy was developed following the appointment of Mike Moore as Chief Executive Officer and 

Justin Brown as Executive Director on 15 January 2013. Mike is a mining engineer with 15 years’ 

operational experience in Australia, South Africa, West Africa and Europe. His senior management 

experience includes the establishment of a new mineral sands mining operation in West Africa, operations 

management of mine service providers, as well as project management for resource and mine contracting 

companies.  

The board has also initiated a review of all Montezuma Mining’s non-core tenements to further understand 

their geological potential. The aim of this review is to unlock further value from the company’s current 

asset base. 



 

Page 5 

2.2. Exploration 

2.2.1. Butcherbird (MZM 100%) 

The Butcherbird Project straddles the Great North Highway approximately 120 kilometres south of 

Newman.  The land is open with sparse vegetative cover, giving good access to all areas of the license. 

Montezuma Mining acquired the project by pegging vacant ground in 2009 and has since significantly 

advanced both the manganese and copper potential within the Project.  

Manganese 

Manganese hosting bedrock at Butcherbird occurs as a regionally extensive, gently folded, low grade basal 

laminated shale unit which grades between 4% and 6% Mn.  Although this formation is very extensive, the low 

grades and fine grained nature of the 

manganese in fresh bedrock suggests that 

this feature is unlikely to be commercially 

useful using conventional processing 

techniques. 

However, in the near surface weathering 

profile, the manganese mineralisation is 

supergenene enriched partitioning into high 

grade bands within a clay waste matrix.  This 

partitioning during weathering has resulted in 

very extensive zones of manganese 

delineated over at least 10 separate 

prospects that appear amendable to mining and beneficiation through conventional processing methods. 

The work to date has identified a number of key target areas, within which  JORC Resource Estimates for eight 

of these areas has yielded a total manganese ore inventory of in excess of 170 million tonnes (see detailed 

summary table later in this report).   

Native Title Agreement 

In December 2012 Montezuma Mining signed The Butcherbird Mining Agreement with the Ngarlawangga 

people in relation to the Butcherbird Project Area. The Agreement was reached following four months of 

constructive consultation and negotiation with the Ngarlawangga people and reflects the strong 

relationship that the parties have developed since Montezuma Mining commenced exploration for 

manganese in the region almost four years ago.  
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While the details of the Native Title Mining Area Agreement are confidential, Montezuma Mining believes it 

has created an innovative agreement structure that will provide the Ngarlawangga people with the 

appropriate incentives and support to establish and build community businesses while ensuring the 

company can continue to grow shareholder value.  

 

 

Figure 1. Project Area Agreement with Ngarlawangga People. 
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Exploration 

Two phases of geological mapping were undertaken at Butcherbird to identify and interpret the location of 

potential manganese hosting horizons within bedrock, and in particular under cover. The first phase was 

reconnaissance geological mapping at a nominal 1:25,000 scale and this was completed over tenement 

E52/2350.  Manganese mineralisation is interpreted as strata bound with ore forming as supergene 

enriched bodies in the weathering profile within the top 20 to 40 metres above fresh bedrock.  Bedrock 

comprises manganese-rich horizons within a thick interbedded dominantly shale and siltstone package 

called the Ilgarari Formation within the Bangemall Basin. 

The Butcherbird Project and specifically tenement E52/2350 contains eight defined manganese deposits 

with a global resource inventory of 119 Million tonnes @ 11.6% Mn (ASX release dated 7 December 2011).  

 Additional Resources have been estimated at an 8% Mn cut for a beneficiated Mn product grading under 

35% Mn.  These Resources add another 55.9 Million tonnes @ 9.3% Mn to the global estimate.  These 

additional tonnages are expected to provide additional flexibility with respect to blending during future 

production. 

Most of the deposits defined to date have been delineated under sub-cropping to outcropping manganese 

mineralisation.  A significant number of these deposits are also open along strike as they extend out under 

relatively shallow cover. Sub-cropping to outcropping bedrock would comprise only approximately 2% of 

the area with the remaining surface consisting of relatively shallow cover.  This cover is dominantly 

colluvium and alluvium with minor remnant veneers of laterite.   

The board believes there is significant potential for further delineation of manganese mineralisation hosted 

within prospective bedrock beneath these expansive areas of shallow cover. Based on defined open 

mineralisation to date, coupled with information from first phase reconnaissance mapping, at least four 

approximate east to west trending, prospective horizons or belts have been interpreted (Figure 2).  
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Figure 2. Interpreted Prospective Mn-rich Horizons/Trends. 

 

During March 2013 a more detailed and comprehensive project scale geological mapping program (nominal 

1:25,000 scale) was undertaken by geological consultant Mr John Crossing of Compass Geological.  This 

planned mapping was undertaken to improve the delineation and confidence level in the interpreted 

exploration target horizons/trends and aid in the planning of subsequent drill testing.   

The mapped tenements were found to almost exclusively contain shales and minor siltstone interspersed 

with a few dolerite sills. At surface these shales contain centimetre scale primary manganese bands 

throughout. Locally, these bands are closely spaced with a few thicker bands (10’s cm scale) apparent.  

Mapping appears to confirm that one or more prospective horizons are duplicated by sub-horizontal open 

folds that trend more-or-less ENE-WSW, and these are transected by several faults of similar trend to the 

copper prospective Butcherbird fault. Results of mapping are highly encouraging as it indicates 

considerable potential for the delineation of additional manganese resources. High grade enrichment was 

also located and is yet to be drill tested. 
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Figure 3. Butcherbird Project geological mapping 

 

Metallurgical testing 

Plans for the 15 hole infill metallurgical diamond drilling program at the Yanneri Ridge, Richies Find and 

Bindi Bindi Hill deposits were refined with the assistance of Dr Tony Mason from Mineral Processors (WA) 

Pty Ltd (Mineral Processors).  

Montezuma Mining engaged Dr Mason to design the metallurgical test work program for the material 

recovered in the diamond drilling work to be undertaken during the March quarter 2013.  The aim of this 

program is to establish the amenability of the ore to be economically upgraded on a large scale from an in 

ground grade of between 10%-12% Manganese to a marketable grade of 35%-36% Manganese. 

Montezuma is constructing a small laboratory scrubber capable of producing results that can be scaled to a 

full-sized production scrubber and, at the same time, use a small enough mass of scrubber feed per test to 

allow halved diamond drill hole core in relatively short intercept lengths.  Mineral Processors has designed 

scrubbers to perform this type of work previously, notably for Anglovaal Laboratory on the Witwatersrand. 

Scrubbing will disintegrate shaley material to leave manganese particles intact.  Preliminary tests 

performed at Nagrom and ALS Iron Ore have demonstrated that company’s weathered shale hosted 
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manganese mineral lamellae are amenable to significant upgrading by scrubbing. The company’s test 

scrubber will be 950mm in internal diameter and large enough for direct scaling.  The ore is to be crushed 

to a top size in the range 8-12mm and hence a scrubber “length” of only 50mm (inside liners) is adequate 

to perform tests without the wall effect of the scrubber impacting the measured result. 

The ore is expected to be very variable both with depth and location, hence numerous small samples can 

be tested.  It will be preferable that a single scrubber charge is about 10 kg but a charge as small as 6 kg will 

be adequate. The scrubber has been designed to fit an alternative 165mm long shell that will allow a 50mm 

top size lump feed to be tested. 

The scrubber unit has a carefully designed open front which allows samples to be extracted during 

operation. This facility will make the determination of “degree of scrubbing” with energy input with time 

much quicker than on “traditional” equipment. 

Test work to date has indicated that “charge enhanced” scrubbing can be beneficial to some ores. Hence 

this scrubber has been designed to be able to operate with a 45% charge of 6mm steel balls and at 65% of 

critical speed.   

Copper 

To date 67 RC holes for 10,995 metres have been drilled at the company’s 100% owned Butcherbird Copper 

Project within the Bangemall Basin.  Structurally controlled copper mineralisation is well known in the 

eastern side of the basin.  In addition to the Butcherbird deposit the main known localities of copper 

mineralisation occur in the Ilgarari and Kumarina deposit areas.  Both these areas are sites of current 

exploration activity by other companies.  Copper production has been sporadic from all deposit areas since 

the early 1900’s through to the 1970’s. Mineralisation is associated with steeply dipping, east-northeast 

trending major shears/faults  

Open mineralisation has been defined by drilling over a strike length of 600 metres.  Best results to date 

have been returned from testing the shear hosted mineralisation.  The thickest mineralised zones have 

been intercepted within the central and east end of drilling to date with best results returned of: 

 61 m @ 1.96% Cu from 113 m in BBRC0153 (includes 6 m @ 6.08% Cu); and 

 6 m @ 2.0% Cu from 114m & 9 m @ 1.1% Cu from 127 m in BBRC0220 respectively 

(MZM, ASX  18 April 2012). 
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During the year drill hole data was utilised for 3D modelling of structure, geology and mineralisation 

associated with the copper mineralisation. Modelling and subsequent interpretation enhanced 

understanding of the geometry, controls and nature of the shear hosted copper mineralisation facilitating 

the targeting of follow up infill and extension drilling around the broader mineralised zones and along strike 

on the Butcherbird shear.  Within granted tenure E52/2350 Montezuma has a total of a further 6 

kilometres of prospective strike outside the 600 metres strike length drill tested to date.   

Exploration 

During the past year Tenure E52/2727 was granted giving Montezuma Mining access to approximately 15 

km of strike length of the prospective, copper-cobalt hosting, Butcherbird shear.  The Butcherbird Project 

now comprises three contiguous granted exploration licences totalling 687 km2.  Montezuma has defined 

copper-cobalt mineralisation over approximately 700 m of strike at the Butcherbird prospect. High-grade 

copper intercepts have been returned from the Butcherbird Prospect with mineralisation intersected to 

date appearing to be confined and discontinuous particularly at shallow depths. However mineralisation is 

still open along strike and at depth.  Further infill and extension drilling at Butcherbird is warranted with 

applications for appropriate government approvals and heritage clearance underway. 

  

 

Figure 4. Location Plan of Copper hosting Butcherbird Shear 
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Outside the Butcherbird prospect limited drill testing has been completed on the 15 km of prospective, 

northeast striking, copper hosting Butcherbird shear (Figure 4). Bedrock in the area is interpreted to be 

predominantly 1 to 2 metres beneath a veneer of cover comprising unconsolidated sandy-gravelly loam 

and hardpan.  Montezuma Mining is currently undertaking geochemical orientation surveys at the 

Butcherbird prospect to determine an efficient and effective method for delineating drill targets along the 

shear.  Orientation surveys have been reviewing the use of various sampling media, assaying methods and 

sample collection techniques. Although the cover is thin the hardpan has been posing both a physical and 

chemical barrier to the effective detection of copper-cobalt anomalism hosted within the underlying 

bedrock. Montezuma Mining is confident of ultimately determining an effective technique and 

subsequently employing that method to complete geochemical survey coverage over the Butcherbird 

shear.  
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2.2.2. Peak Hill/Durack (MZM 85-100%) 

The Peak Hill Gold Mine was acquired at the 

beginning of the 2008 financial year from the 

Barrick and Rio Tinto Groups. 

During the September 2012 quarter, Montezuma 

entered into an option agreement with 

Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd (Grosvenor), a wholly 

owned subsidiary of Resource and Investment NL 

(ASX: RNI) whereby Grosvenor may acquire 100% 

of Montezuma’s interest in the Peak Hill Project 

by the acquisition of Peak Hill Metals Pty Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Montezuma). The key terms of 

the agreement: 

 Grosvenor paying an initial option fee of $100,000 for an exclusive option until 29 March 2013, that 

has been subsequently extended to 29 November 2013 by paying Montezuma Mining an additional 

$50,000.  

 Grosvenor may exercise the option at any time prior to expiry by paying Montezuma Mining a 

consideration comprising $2.8 million in cash, the issue of 8,400,000 fully paid ordinary shares in 

RNI, and 2.1 million 35 cent options in RNI.  

 If it exercises the option, Grosvenor must also grant Montezuma Mining a 1% Gross Royalty, 

capped at $1 million, on all revenue it receives from production from the Peak Hill Project.  

 Grosvenor must meet minimum expenditure commitments on the project during the option 

period.  

Tenements  

The Project is located approximately 100 km north of Meekathara and comprises granted mining leases 

over the main resource areas and several prospecting and exploration licences covering the surrounding 

target areas for a total of approximately 211 km2.  

Production history  

The project has a strong gold production history having produced from four modern-era open cut pits on 

top of extensive historical high-grade production from underground mining in the latter part of the 19th 

century.  
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Since the 1980’s, the Main Pit, Jubilee, Fiveways and Harmony open cut operations have produced 

approximately 650,000 oz of gold while historically, pre-1913 production yielded around 270,000 oz. The 

combined ounces confirm the Peak Hill field as a million plus ounce high-grade gold system. 

Heap leaching studies 

Heap leach metallurgical test work on oxide and transitional mineralisation from Peak Hill and Harmony 

have commenced with the selected samples considered representative of all potential deposits suitable for 

heap leach within the Montezuma tenements over which RNI has an option to acquire later in this calendar 

year. Metallurgical studies are currently focused on leach kinetics and potential for dump and heap leach 

operations. Size optimisation bottle roll results from Fortnum were utilised to undertake variability bottle 

rolls on Peak Hill and Harmony ore.  Other test work indicates -25mm material selected for the Peak Hill 

and Harmony bottle roll variability tests is the representative sample fraction. 

Bottle roll tests indicate sufficiently high enough recoveries to commence column tests with 85% recovery 

indicated.  

 

Table 1. Bottle roll test results. 

Samples have been agglomerated using 10kg/t cement and 6% moisture and have been found to have 

adequate percolation at this blend. Columns tests will be undertaken with these conditions. 

Additional short term test work planned includes: 

 Conducting 0kg/t percolation tests on the two dump samples to ascertain the potential for dump 

leach; and 

 Column tests assuming on both oxide and transitional ore. 

Additional longer term test work planned includes: 

 Percolation tests on a “hybrid” screened and agglomerated sample from Peak Hill/Harmony. This 

will determine the size fraction to be screened and agglomerated to give good recovery in a heap 

leach while minimising operating costs (cement consumption); and 

 Large scale column leach tests (6 tonne capacity) utilising the results from the small scale column 

tests replicating likely operating conditions. Separate column tests on 100% agglomerated, fines 

only agglomeration will be further refined after the results of tests mentioned above are known. 
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Resource 

The Peak Hill district is located approximately 125 km north of Meekathara in the northern extent of the 

Murchison Goldfield in Western Australia. The Peak Hill field includes the Harmony, Enigma, Durack, 

Windsor, Bowman, Jubilee, Slingshot, Atkins and Peak Hill gold deposits. The Peak Hill project is further 

subdivided into Main Pit/Fiveways and Mt Pleasant. The individual projects are located within 10 km of one 

another as shown in Figure 5 which also shows the regional geology. 

The host lithologies for the gold mineralisation comprise mafic and ultramafic volcanic rocks, turbiditic 

metasedimentary rocks, banded iron formation and associated clastic sediments, all of which are intensely 

deformed and metamorphosed (Robertson et. al., 2003).  Mineralisation extends up to 100m to 300m 

below surface and is open at depth in some areas. 

 

 

Figure 5. Regional Geology of the Peak Hill gold field showing known deposit locations   
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2.2.3. Tenement Application 

Exploration license applications have been lodged over two prospective new project areas – Tropicana 

(EL39/1746) and Green Dam (E28/2302 and 2313). 

The Tropicana Project (EL39/1746) offers the opportunity for Montezuma Mining to explore within a highly 

desirable gold belt, lying within the highly prospective Albany-Frazer Province approximately 22 km 

northeast of the Tropicana gold mine (Joint Venture between AngloGold Ashanti Limited and Independence 

Group NL). 

 

 

Figure 6. Montezuma’s Tropicana Project Location Plan. 
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The Green Dam Project (E28/2302 and 2313) is situated just northeast of Kalgoorlie.  Previous operators 

have delineated both significant nickel and gold mineralisation.  Anomalism to date indicates potential for 

intrusive-related, large-tonnage Ni-Cu and high-grade Archean, orogenic gold mineralisation.   

   

Figure 7. Green Dam Project Location Plan. 
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3. Corporate 

3.1. Buxton Resources Limited 

Montezuma Mining has held a significant equity position in Buxton Resources Limited (“Buxton”) which it 

acquired as a founding vendor, and by participating in a subsequent rights issue. The Company has during 

the current year sold a portion of its holding to generate funds without diluting existing shareholders, and 

now holds 2,372,500 shares in Buxton. 

3.2. Option exercise 

During the year, a number of options with a strike price of 20c were exercised prior to their expiry date. 

The Company received funding of $560,000 by virtue of the exercise of these options. 

3.3. Exterra Resources Limited 

During the year, Montezuma Mining increased its shareholding in Exterra Resources Limited (“Exterra”) and 

became a substantial shareholder by participating in Exterra’s rights issue in late 2012. The Company 

applied for further shortfall shares under the rights issue and now holds 12,000,000 shares in Exterra. 
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4. Appendices 

4.1.  Competent Persons Statement 

The Information in this report that relates to exploration results is based on information compiled by Justin Brown, who is a 

member of the Australian Institute of Mining & Metallurgy. Mr. Brown is a geologist and has sufficient experience which is relevant 

to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify as a 

Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 

and Ore Reserves. Justin Brown consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and 

context in which it appears.  

The information in this report related to the Mineral Resource for the Yanneri Ridge, Bindi Bindi Hill, Budgie Hills, Cadgies Flats, 

Coodamudgi, Illgararie Ridge, Mundawindi, Richies Find Manganese deposits is based on information compiled by Shane Fieldgate 

under the supervision of Ivor Jones. Mr. Fieldgate is a Member of the Australian Institute of Geoscientists (AIG) and the 

Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) and is a full time employee of Snowden Mining Industry Consultants. Mr. 

Jones is a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and metallurgy (AusIMM), a Chartered Professional (Geology) and is a full 

time employee of Snowden Mining Industry Consultants.  Mr. jones has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of 

mineralisation, type of deposit under consideration and to the activity that he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent person as 

defined in the 2004 edition of the "Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves". 

Ivor Jones and Shane Fieldgate consent to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on their information in the form and 

context in which it appears. 

The information in this report that relates to the Mineral Resources for the Harmony, Enigma, Durack and Mainpit/Fiveways 

Deposits is based on information compiled by Mr. Kevin Lowe (MAusIMM) under the supervision and guidance of Ms. Lynn Olssen 

(MAusIMM (CP)), who are both full-time employees of Snowden Mining Industry Consultants. Lynn Olssen has sufficient experience 

that is relevant to the style of mineralisation, type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as 

a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 edition of the Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration, Results, Mineral Resource 

and Ore Reserves (JORC, 2004). Lynn Olssen consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on the information in the 

form and context that the information appears. 

The team of Competent Persons involved in the preparation of the Mineral Resource for the Jubilee J2 and J3 gold deposits is as 

follows: 

The estimate was completed under the overall supervision and direction of Steven Hodgson, MAIG, of CSA Global who is a 

Competent Person as defined by the Australasian Code for the Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources or Ore Reserves 

(JORC Code 2004 Edition) and who consents to the inclusion in this report of the matters based on the information in the form and 

context in which it appears. 

The resource estimate in this report relates to information provided by Montezuma Mining Company Ltd. The information 

including database compilation, geological interpretation and mineralisation wire framing was completed by Craig Richards B.Sc. 

Hons Grad.Dip. and supervised by Trevor Saul B.Sc.Hons MAusIMM. Mr Saul is a geologist and has sufficient experience which is 

relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is undertaking to qualify 

as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral 

Resources and Ore Reserves. Trevor Saul consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form 

and context in which it appear. 
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Directors’ Report 
 

Your directors submit their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of Montezuma Mining 

Company Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2013. 

DIRECTORS   
The names and details of the Company’s directors in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows.  

Where applicable, all current and former directorships held in listed public companies over the last three years have been detailed below. 

Directors were in office for this entire period unless otherwise stated. 

Names, qualifications, experience and special responsibilities  

Seamus Cornelius, (Non-Executive Chairman, audit committee member) 

Mr Cornelius brings 22 years’ of corporate experience in both legal and commercial negotiations. Mr Cornelius has been based in 

Shanghai and Beijing since 1993 where he has been living and working as a corporate lawyer. 

From 2000 to 2012, Mr Cornelius was an international partner with one of Australia’s leading law firms and specialised in dealing with 

cross border investments, particularly in the energy and resource sectors. Mr Cornelius has for many years advised large international 

companies on their investments in China and in recent years advised Chinese state owned entities on their investments in natural resource 

projects outside China, including Australia. Mr Cornelius is also chairman of Buxton Resources Limited. Mr Cornelius has not held any 

former directorships in the last 3 years. 

Justin Brown, B.Sc. (Hon), (Executive Director from 1 February 2013, Managing Director from the start of the financial year until 31 

January 2013, audit committee member) 

Mr Brown is a geologist with over 15 years’ experience in minerals exploration and mining in Australia and globally. He has an 

extensive technical background with broad spectrum experience in project generation, mineral exploration and mining, coupled with 

strategic and corporate experience and a proven track record in business development and public company management. 

Mr Brown is a non-executive director of Exterra Resources Limited. Mr Brown has not held any former directorships in the last 3 years. 

Mr Brown was the founding Managing Director of the Company. 

John Ribbons, B.Bus., CPA, ACIS (Non-Executive Director, Chairman of audit committee) 

Mr Ribbons is an accountant who has worked within the resources industry for over twenty years in the capacity of company accountant, 

group financial controller or company secretary. 

Mr Ribbons has extensive knowledge and experience with ASX listed production and exploration companies.  He has considerable site 

based experience with operating mines and has also been involved with the listing of several exploration companies on ASX.  Mr 

Ribbons has experience in capital raising, ASX and TSX compliance and regulatory requirements. Mr Ribbons has not held any former 

directorships in the last 3 years. 

COMPANY SECRETARY  

John Ribbons 

Interests in the shares and options of the Company and related bodies corporate 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the directors in the shares and options of Montezuma Mining Company Limited were: 

  Ordinary 
Shares 

Options over 
Ordinary 
Shares 

Seamus Cornelius 3,064,225 5,000,000 

Justin Brown 4,112,500 4,000,000 

John Ribbons 500,000 2,500,000 
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

During the year the Group carried out exploration on its tenements and applied for or acquired additional tenements with the objective of 

identifying economic mineral deposits. 

There was no significant change in the nature of the Group’s activities during the year. 

DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid or declared during the financial year. No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS 

Finance Review  

The Group began the financial year with a cash reserve of $6,847,835. During the year, total funds of $560,000 were raised from the 

exercise of 2,800,000 options. Funds were used to acquire and actively advance the Group’s projects located in Australia. 

During the year total tenement acquisition and exploration expenditure incurred by the Group amounted to $2,136,107.  In line with the 

Group’s accounting policies, all exploration expenditure was written off at year end.  The Group received income of $200,000 (2012: 

$125,000) from the sale of tenement interests, and recognised a net fair value gain on financial assets of $1,183,864 (2012: $262,544 fair 

value loss). The Group also received Research and Development tax incentive refunds totalling $842,983 (2012: Nil) during the year. Net 

administration expenditure incurred amounted to $833,162 (2012: $458,302).  This has resulted in an operating loss after income tax for 

the year ended 30 June 2013 of $742,422 (2012: $4,007,047). 

At 30 June 2013 surplus funds available totalled $6,771,107. 

Operating Results for the Year 

Summarised operating results are as follows: 

 2013 

 Revenues 

$ 

Results 

$ 

Consolidated entity revenues and loss from ordinary activities before income tax expense 1,694,179 (742,422) 

Shareholder Returns 

 2013 2012 

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents)  (1.1) (6.2) 

Risk Management 

The board is responsible for ensuring that risks, and also opportunities, are identified on a timely basis and that activities are aligned with 

the risks and opportunities identified by the board. 

The Group believes that it is crucial for all board members to be a part of this process, and as such the board has not established a 

separate risk management committee. 

The board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure that management's objectives and activities are aligned with the risks 

identified by the board.  These include the following: 

 Board approval of a strategic plan, which encompasses strategy statements designed to meet stakeholders needs and manage business 

risk. 

 Implementation of board approved operating plans and budgets and board monitoring of progress against these budgets. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 

Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during the financial year were as follows: 

 During the year the Group issued 2,800,000 ordinary shares on the exercise of options to raise a total of $560,000. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE DATE 

No matters or circumstances, besides those disclosed at note 23, have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly 

affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in 

future financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS 

The Group expects to maintain the present status and level of operations and hence there are no likely developments in the Group’s 

operations. 
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ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND PERFORMANCE 

The Group is subject to significant environmental regulation in respect to its exploration activities. 

The Group aims to ensure the appropriate standard of environmental care is achieved, and in doing so, that it is aware of and is in 

compliance with all environmental legislation. The directors of the Group are not aware of any breach of environmental legislation for 

the year under review. 

REMUNERATION REPORT 

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

Remuneration Policy 

The remuneration policy of Montezuma Mining Company Limited has been designed to align key management personnel objectives with 

shareholder and business objectives by providing a fixed remuneration component and offering specific long-term incentives based on 

key performance areas affecting the Group’s financial results. The board of Montezuma Mining Company Limited believes the 

remuneration policy to be appropriate and effective in its ability to attract and retain the best key management personnel to run and 

manage the Group. 

The board’s policy for determining the nature and amount of remuneration for key management personnel of the Group is as follows: 

The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the executive directors and other senior executives (if any), was developed 

by the board. All executives receive a base salary (which is based on factors such as length of service and experience) and 

superannuation. The board reviews executive packages annually by reference to the Group’s performance, executive performance and 

comparable information from industry sectors and other listed companies in similar industries.  

The board may exercise discretion in relation to approving incentives, bonuses and options. The policy is designed to attract and retain 

the highest calibre of executives and reward them for performance that results in long-term growth in shareholder wealth.  

Executives are also entitled to participate in the employee share and option arrangements.  

The executive directors and executives (if any) receive a superannuation guarantee contribution required by the government, which is 

currently 9%, and do not receive any other retirement benefits. 

All remuneration paid to directors and executives is valued at the cost to the Group and expensed. Options are valued using the 

Black-Scholes methodology. 

The board policy is to remunerate non-executive directors at market rates for comparable companies for time, commitment and 

responsibilities. The board determines payments to the non-executive directors and reviews their remuneration annually, based on market 

practice, duties and accountability. Independent external advice is sought when required. The maximum aggregate amount of fees that 

can be paid to non-executive directors is subject to approval by shareholders at the Annual General Meeting (currently $200,000). Fees 

for non-executive directors are not linked to the performance of the Group. However, to align directors’ interests with shareholder 

interests, the directors are encouraged to hold shares in the Company. 

Performance based remuneration  

The Group currently has no performance based remuneration component built into key management personnel remuneration packages.  

Group performance, shareholder wealth and key management personnel remuneration 

The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase the direct positive relationship between shareholders investment objectives and key 

management personnel performance. Currently, this is facilitated through the issue of options to the majority of key management 

personnel to encourage the alignment of personal and shareholder interests. The Group believes this policy will be effective in increasing 

shareholder wealth. At commencement of production, performance based bonuses based on key performance indicators are expected to 

be introduced. For details of key management personnel interests in options at year end, refer to note 17 of the financial statements. 

Use of remuneration consultants 

The Group did not employ the services of any remuneration consultants during the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting 

The Company received approximately 99.9% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2012 financial year. The Company did not 

receive any specific feedback at the Annual General Meeting or throughout the year on its remuneration practices. 

Details of remuneration 

Details of the remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group are set out in the following table. 

The key management personnel of the Group include the directors as per page 3 and the following executive officer who has authority 

and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group: 

 Michael Moore – Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), appointed 15 January 2013. 
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Key management personnel of the Group 

 Short-Term Post Employment 

Share-based 

Payments  Total  

 

Salary 

 & Fees Non Monetary Superannuation 

Retirement 

benefits Options 

 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Directors      

Seamus Cornelius      

  2013 58,636 6,621 - - 90,705 155,962 

  2012 78,636 4,589 - - 52,100 135,325 

Justin Brown      

  2013 242,880 8,645 22,116 - 181,410 455,051 

  2012 249,385 5,264 22,445 - 52,100 329,194 

John Ribbons      

  2013 42,000 6,621 - - 90,705 139,326 

  2012 42,000 4,589 - - 52,100 98,689 

Other key management personnel      

Michael Moore (appointed 15 January 2013)(1)     

  2013 241,538 - 22,013 - 55,584 319,135 

         

Total key management personnel compensation     

  2013 585,054 21,887 44,129 - 418,404 1,069,474 

  2012 370,021 14,442 22,445 - 156,300 563,208 

(1) Michael Moore was employed as Project Manager from the start of the financial year, but was not considered a member of key 

management personnel until his promotion to CEO on 15 January 2013. The remuneration details provided above are for the whole 

financial year encompassing both positions held. Details of Mr Moore’s salary package as CEO are provided below. 

Service agreements 

The details of service agreements of the key management personnel of the Group are as follows: 

Justin Brown, Executive Director from 1 February 2013, Managing Director from the start of the financial year until 31 January 2013: 

• Term of agreement – 30 June 2014. 

• Annual salary of $242,880 (plus 9% statutory superannuation) paid on a pro-rata basis, based on a three day week, plus the provision 

of income protection insurance and is to be reviewed annually. 

• Payment of termination benefit on early termination by the Company, other than for gross misconduct, equal to six months total 

salary. 

Michael Moore, Chief Executive Officer, appointed 15 January 2013: 

• Term of agreement – Employment agreement requiring 4 weeks’ notice of termination by either party. 

• Annual salary of $220,000 (plus 9% statutory superannuation). 

Share-based compensation 

Options 

Options are issued to key management personnel as part of their remuneration. The options are not issued based on performance criteria, 

but are issued to the majority of key management personnel of Montezuma Mining Company Limited to increase goal congruence 

between key management personnel and shareholders. The following options were granted to or vesting with key management personnel 

during the year: 

 Grant Date 

Granted 

Number Vesting Date Expiry Date 

Exercise 

Price 

(cents) 

Value per 

option at 

grant date 

(cents) 

Exercised 

Number 

% of 

Remuneration 

Directors         

Seamus Cornelius 30/11/2012 750,000 30/11/2012 30/11/2016 32.5 7.5 N/A 36.0 

Seamus Cornelius 30/11/2012 750,000 (1) 30/11/2017 38.0 7.7 N/A 22.2 

Justin Brown 30/11/2012 1,500,000 30/11/2012 30/11/2016 32.5 7.5 N/A 24.7 

Justin Brown 30/11/2012 1,500,000 (1) 30/11/2017 38.0 7.7 N/A 15.2 

John Ribbons 30/11/2012 750,000 30/11/2012 30/11/2016 32.5 7.5 N/A 40.3 

John Ribbons 30/11/2012 750,000 (1) 30/11/2017 38.0 7.7 N/A 24.8 
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Other key management personnel       

Michael Moore 15/01/2013 1,000,000 15/01/2013 14/01/2016 27.5 3.9 N/A 12.1 

Michael Moore 15/01/2013 1,000,000 15/01/2014 14/01/2017 (2) (2) N/A (2) 

(1) These options have a market vesting condition, such that they will vest once the market capitalisation of the Company appreciates 

100% from 30 November 2012. 

(2) These options are conditional on Mr Moore’s continued employment with the Company, and the exercise price will be set at a 50% 

premium to the 30 day volume weighted average price of the Company’s shares traded on ASX at allotment (vesting date). 

Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to each director of Montezuma 

Mining Company Limited and other key management personnel of the Group are set out below: 

  

Number of ordinary shares 

issued on exercise of options 

during the year 

Amount paid per ordinary share 

(cents) 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 

Directors      

Justin Brown  2,000,000 - 20 - 

John Ribbons  500,000 - 20 - 

No amounts are unpaid on any shares issued on the exercise of options. 

Performance Rights 

Performance rights are issued to directors and executives as part of their remuneration, following the approval by shareholders of the 

Company’s Performance Rights Plan at the 2012 Annual General Meeting. The Company does not have a formal policy in relation to the 

key management personnel limiting their exposure to risk in relation to the securities, but the Board actively discourages key personnel 

from obtaining mortgages in securities held in the Company. 

The following performance rights were granted to or vesting with key management personnel during the year, there were no performance 

rights forfeited during the year: 

 Grant Date 

Granted 

Number 

Vested 

Number 

Date Vesting 

and 

Exercisable Expiry Date 

Value per 

right at 

grant date 

(cents)(1) 

% of 

Remuneration 

Other Key Management Personnel        

Michael Moore(2) 15/03/2012 150,000 Nil (3) 15/03/2017 35.0 2.1 

Michael Moore(2) 15/03/2012 150,000 Nil (4) 15/03/2017 35.0 2.1 

Michael Moore(2) 15/03/2012 200,000 Nil (5) 15/03/2017 35.0 2.8 

(1) The value at grant date in accordance with AASB 2: Share Based Payments of performance rights granted during the year as part of 

remuneration. The value is the closing share price on grant date. 

(2) These Performance Rights were granted to Mr Moore when he was employed as Project Manager during the 2012 financial year. 

Following promotion to CEO on 15 January 2013, Mr Moore is now considered a member of key management personnel requiring 

disclosure of these previously granted rights. 

(3) The performance condition for these rights is: 

“Delivery to customer of the first commercial shipment of DSO manganese ore from the Project.” 

At the reporting date, the Board has determined that the probability of this performance condition being met is 50%. 

(4) The performance condition for these rights is: 

“Completion of Feasibility Study on the large scale commercial production of beneficiated manganese from the Project.” 

At the reporting date, the Board has determined that the probability of this performance condition being met is 50%. 

(5) The performance condition for these rights is: 

“Delivery to customer of the first commercial shipment of beneficiated manganese ore from the Project.” 

At the reporting date, the Board has determined that the probability of this performance condition being met is 50%. 
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DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS 

During the year the Company held three meetings of directors. The attendance of directors at meetings of the board were:  

   

 Directors Meetings Audit Committee Meetings 

 A B A B 

Seamus Cornelius 3 3 1 1 

Justin Brown 3 3 1 1 

John Ribbons 3 3 1 1 

Notes 

A - Number of meetings attended. 

B - Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year.  

SHARES UNDER OPTION 

At the date of this report there are 12,825,000 unissued ordinary shares in respect of which options are outstanding. 

 Number of options  

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,925,000 

Movements of share options during the year:   

Issued, exercisable at 27.5 cents, on or before 14 January 2016 1,000,000 

Issued, exercisable at 32.5 cents, on or before 30 November 2016 3,000,000 

Issued, exercisable at 38 cents, on or before 30 November 2017 3,000,000 

Exercised (20 cents, 30 November 2012) (2,800,000) 

Expired (20 cents, 30 November 2012) (250,000) 

Expired (35 cents, 30 November 2012) (50,000) 

Total number of options outstanding as at 30 June 2013 and the date of this report 12,825,000 

The balance is comprised of the following:  

Expiry date Exercise price (cents) Number of options 

14 January 2016 27.5 1,000,000 

30 November 2016 32.5 3,000,000 

30 November 2017 38 3,000,000 

21 October 2015 41 325,000 

14 December 2013 58 3,000,000 

30 November 2015 65 1,000,000 

30 November 2015 80 1,500,000 

Total number of options outstanding at the date of this report  12,825,000 

No person entitled to exercise any option referred to above has or had, by virtue of the option, a right to participate in any share issue of 

any other body corporate. 

SHARES ISSUED ON THE EXERCISE OF OPTIONS 

The following ordinary shares of Montezuma Mining Company Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2013, and up to the 

date of this report, on the exercise of options. No amounts are unpaid on any of the shares. 

Date options granted Issue price of shares  Number of shares issued 

13 November 2008 20 cents 2,000,000 

19 October 2009 20 cents 300,000 

30 November 2009 20 cents 500,000 

  2,800,000 
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INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

During the financial year, Montezuma Mining Company Limited paid a premium of $19,864 to insure the directors of the company. 

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may be brought against the 

officers in their capacity as officers of entities in the Group, and any other payments arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in 

connection with such proceedings. This does not include such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the 

officers or the improper use by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to 

cause detriment to the company. It is not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs 

and those relating to other liabilities. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 

There were no non-audit services provided by the entity's auditor, Rothsay Chartered Accountants, or associated entities, during the year. 

PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of the 

company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the 

company for all or any part of those proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under section 237 of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 10. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

 

Justin Brown 

Executive Director 

Perth, 24 September 2013 

 





 

11 

 
 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Corporate Governance Statement 
 

The Board of Directors 

The Company's constitution provides that the number of directors shall not be less than three and not more than twenty. There is no 

requirement for any shareholding qualification. 

As and if the Company's activities increase in size, nature and scope the size of the board will be reviewed periodically, and as 

circumstances demand. The optimum number of directors required to supervise adequately the Company's constitution will be 

determined within the limitations imposed by the constitution. 

The membership of the board, its activities and composition, is subject to periodic review.  The criteria for determining the identification 

and appointment of a suitable candidate for the board shall include quality of the individual, background of experience and achievement, 

compatibility with other board members, credibility within the Company's scope of activities, intellectual ability to contribute to board's 

duties and physical ability to undertake board's duties and responsibilities. 

Directors are initially appointed by the full board subject to election by shareholders at the next annual general meeting. Under the 

Company's constitution the tenure of a director (other than managing director, and only one managing director where the position is 

jointly held) is subject to reappointment by shareholders not later than the third anniversary following his or her last appointment. 

Subject to the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001, the board does not subscribe to the principle of retirement age and there is no 

maximum period of service as a director. A managing director may be appointed for any period and on any terms the directors think fit 

and, subject to the terms of any agreement entered into, may revoke any appointment. 

Role of the Board 

The board's primary role is the protection and enhancement of long-term shareholder value. 

To fulfil this role, the board is responsible for oversight of management and the overall corporate governance of the Company including 

its strategic direction, establishing goals for management and monitoring the achievement of these goals. 

Appointments to Other Boards 

Directors are required to take into consideration any potential conflicts of interest when accepting appointments to other boards. 

Independent Professional Advice 

The board has determined that individual directors have the right in connection with their duties and responsibilities as directors, to seek 

independent professional advice at the Company's expense.  With the exception of expenses for legal advice in relation to director's rights 

and duties, the engagement of an outside adviser is subject to prior approval of the Chairman and this will not be withheld unreasonably. 

Continuous Review of Corporate Governance 

Directors consider, on an ongoing basis, how management information is presented to them and whether such information is sufficient to 

enable them to discharge their duties as directors of the Company.  Such information must be sufficient to enable the directors to 

determine appropriate operating and financial strategies from time to time in light of changing circumstances and economic conditions.  

The directors recognise that mineral exploration is an inherently risky business and that operational strategies adopted should, 

notwithstanding, be directed towards improving or maintaining the net worth of the Company.  

ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance 

The board has reviewed its current practices in light of the revised ASX Corporate Governance Principles and Recommendations with a 

view to making amendments where applicable after considering the Company's size and the resources it has available. 

As the Company's activities develop in size, nature and scope, the size of the board and the implementation of any additional formal 

corporate governance committees will be given further consideration. 

The board has adopted the revised Recommendations and the following table sets out the Company's present position in relation to each 

of the revised Principles. 
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  ASX Principle  Status Reference/comment  
    

Principle 1:  Lay solid foundations for 

management and oversight  

   

1.1  Companies should establish the 

functions reserved to the board and 

those delegated to senior executives 

and disclose those functions  

A Matters reserved for the board are included on the Company’s 

website. 

1.2 Companies should disclose the 

process for evaluating the 

performance of senior executives 

N/A The performance of executive and non-executive directors is 

reviewed by the board with the exclusion of the Director concerned.  

The performance of management and employees is reviewed by the 

Chief Executive Officer and approved by the Board.  

Acting in its ordinary capacity, the board from time to time carries 

out the process of considering and determining performance issues. 
1.3 Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 1 

A 

 

The Company’s board charter is available on the Company website. 

    

Principle 2:  Structure the board to add value     

2.1  A majority of the board should be 

independent directors  
A The board comprises three directors, two of whom are independent 

(John Ribbons and Seamus Cornelius). 

2.2  The chair should be an independent 

director  
A   

2.3  The roles of chair and chief executive 

officer should not be exercised by the 

same individual  

A The positions of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are held by 

separate persons.  

2.4  The board should establish a 

nomination committee  
A The nomination committee is comprised of the full board. A copy of 

the nomination committee charter is available on the Company’s 

website. 

The nomination committee has not met during the reporting period, 

however all matters that might properly be dealt with by the 

nomination committee are subject to scrutiny at full Board meetings. 

2.5  Companies should disclose the 

process for evaluating the 

performance of the board, its 

committees and individual directors  

A The Board may undergo periodic formal assessment processes, 

including assessment of the Board’s committees, where applicable. 

An independent third party consultant may be used to facilitate the 

assessment. 

An informal process of Board review which may be used by the 

Board requires each director to complete a questionnaire relating to 

the role, composition, procedures, practices and behaviour of the 

Board and its members. Senior executives having most direct contact 

with the Board may also be invited to complete similar 

questionnaires. Responses to the questionnaires are confidential and 

provided direct to the Chair. The Board as a whole then hold a 

facilitated discussion during which each Board member has the 

opportunity to raise any matter, suggestion for improvement or 

criticism with the Board as a whole. 

The Chair of the Board may also meet individually with each Board 

member to discuss their performance.  Non-executive directors may 

also meet to discuss the performance of the Chair or the Chief 

Executive Officer. 

2.6 Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 2 

A 

 

The skills, experience and period of office of Directors are set out in 

the Company’s Annual Report (Directors’ Report) and on its website. 

A statement as to the Company’s materiality thresholds can be found 

in the Board Charter on the Company’s website. 

    

Principle 3:  Promote ethical and responsible 

decision-making  

   

3.1  Companies should establish a code of 

conduct and disclose the code  
A The Company has formulated a Code of Conduct which can be 

viewed on the Company’s website.  

    

    

    

    

    

A = Adopted      

N/A = Not adopted    
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  ASX Principle  Status Reference/comment  
    

3.2  Companies should establish a policy 

concerning diversity and disclose the 

policy or a summary of that policy. 

The policy should include 

requirements for the Board to 

establish measurable objectives for 

achieving gender diversity and for 

the Board to assess annually both the 

objectives and progress in achieving 

them. 

N/A The Company has adopted a diversity policy which can be viewed on 

its website. The Company recognises that a diverse and talented 

workforce is a competitive advantage and encourages a culture that 

embraces diversity. The Company does not think that it is appropriate 

to state measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity due to 

its size and stage of development.  

3.3 Companies should disclose in each 

annual report the measurable 

objectives for achieving gender 

diversity set by the Board in 

accordance with the diversity policy 

and progress towards achieving them. 

N/A The Company has adopted a diversity policy which can be viewed on 

its website. The Company recognises that a diverse and talented 

workforce is a competitive advantage and encourages a culture that 

embraces diversity. However, given the Company’s size and stage of 

development as an exploration company, the Board does not think it 

is yet appropriate to include measurable objectives in relation to 

gender. As the Company grows and requires more employees, the 

Company will review this policy and amend as appropriate. 

 

3.4 Companies should disclose in each 

annual report the proportion of 

women employees in the whole 

organisation, women in senior 

executive positions and women on 

the Board.  

A The proportion of women employees in the whole organisation is nil. 

There are currently no women in senior executive positions. 

There are currently no women on the board.  

3.5  Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 3  

A  

    

Principle 4:  Safeguard integrity in financial 

reporting 

   

4.1  The board should establish an audit 

committee  
A The audit committee is comprised of the full Board. A copy of the 

audit committee charter is available on the Company’s website. 

4.2  The audit committee should be 

structured so that it:  
   

  • consists only of non-executive 

directors  
N/A There are two non-executive directors on the Board. Sourcing 

alternative directors to strictly comply with this Principle is 

considered expensive with costs out weighing potential benefits. 

  • consists of a majority of 

independent directors  
A   

  • is chaired by an independent 

chair, who is not chair of the 

board  

A   

  • has at least three members  A   

4.3  The audit committee should have a 

formal charter  
A The Audit Committee Charter is available on the Company’s website. 

4.4  Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 4  

A The audit committee is to meet at least annually and otherwise as 

required.  

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

     

    

A = Adopted      

N/A = Not adopted    
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  ASX Principle  Status Reference/comment  

    

Principle 5:  Make timely and balanced 

disclosure 

   

5.1  Companies should establish written 

policies designed to ensure 

compliance with ASX Listing Rule 

disclosure requirements and to ensure 

accountability at a senior executive 

level for that compliance and disclose 

those policies or a summary of those 

policies  

A A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is available on the 

Company’s website. 

The Board receives regular reports on the status of the Company’s 

activities and any new proposed activities. 

5.2  Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 5  

A   

    

Principle 6:  Respect the rights of shareholders     

6.1  Companies should design a 

communications policy for 

promoting effective communication 

with shareholders and encouraging 

their participation at general meetings 

and disclose their policy or a 

summary of that policy  

A In line with adherence to continuous disclosure requirements of ASX, 

all shareholders are kept informed of major developments affecting 

the Company. This disclosure is through regular shareholder 

communications including the Annual Reports, Half Yearly Reports, 

Quarterly Reports, the Company Website and the distribution of 

specific releases covering major transactions and events or other 

price sensitive information.  

6.2 Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 6  

A The Company has formulated a Communication Policy which can be 

viewed on the Company’s website.  

    

Principle 7:  Recognise and manage risk     

7.1  Companies should establish policies 

for the oversight and management of 

material business risks and disclose a 

summary of those policies  

A The Company has formulated Risk Management policies within the 

Corporate Governance Statement which can be viewed on the 

Company website.  

7.2  The board should require 

management to design and 

implement the risk management and 

internal control system to manage the 

Company’s material business risks 

and report to it on whether those risks 

are being managed effectively.  The 

board should disclose that 

management has reported to it as to 

the effectiveness of the Company’s 

management of its material business 

risks  

A The full Board recognises its responsibility for identifying areas of 

significant business risk and ensuring that arrangements are in place 

to adequately manage these risks. This issue is regularly reviewed at 

Board meetings and a risk management culture is encouraged 

amongst employees and contractors. 

7.3  The board should disclose whether it 

has received assurance from the chief 

executive officer (or equivalent) and 

the chief financial officer (or 

equivalent) that the declaration 

provided in accordance with section 

295A of the Corporations Act is 

founded on a sound system of risk 

management and internal control and 

that the system is operating 

effectively in all material respects in 

relation to financial reporting risks  

A Assurance received.  

7.4 Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 7 

A  

    

    

    

A = Adopted      

N/A = Not adopted    
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  ASX Principle  Status Reference/comment  

    

Principle 8:  Remunerate fairly and responsibly    

8.1  The board should establish a 

remuneration committee  
A A remuneration committee has been formed with the Charter 

available on the Company’s website. The remuneration committee is 

comprised of the full Board. 

The remuneration committee has not met during the reporting period, 

however all matters that might properly be dealt with by the 

remuneration committee are subject to scrutiny at full Board 

meetings. 

8.2 The remuneration committee should 

be structured so that it: 
  

  consists of a majority of 

independent directors  

A   

  is chaired by an 

independent chair  

A  

  has at least three members.  A  

8.3 
Companies should clearly distinguish 

the structure of non-executive 

directors’ remuneration from that of 

executive directors and senior 

executives 

A Refer to the Remuneration Report in the Company’s Annual Report. 

8.4 
Companies should provide the 

information indicated in the Guide to 

reporting on Principle 8 

A The executive director and executives receive a superannuation 

guarantee contribution required by the government and do not receive 

any other retirement benefits. 

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

    

A = Adopted      

N/A = Not adopted    
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013   Notes Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

REVENUE  4 310,315 465,145 

Other income 5 1,383,864 125,000 

    

EXPENDITURE     

Depreciation expense    (24,182) (33,216) 

Salaries and employee benefits expense   (130,010) (199,311) 

Exploration expenditure  (2,136,107) (3,411,201) 

Secretarial and share registry expenses  (120,251) (139,461) 

Administration expenses   (438,274) (357,613) 

Other expenses 6 - (262,544) 

Share based payment expense 26 (430,760) (193,846) 

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX   (1,585,405) (4,007,047) 

INCOME TAX BENEFIT 7 842,983 - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 
OF MONTEZUMA MINING COMPANY LIMITED   (742,422) (4,007,047) 

    

LOSS PER SHARE FOR LOSS ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE ORDINARY EQUITY 
HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY:    

Basic and diluted loss per share (cents per share) 25  (1.1)  (6.2) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
 

AT 30 JUNE 2013 Notes Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

CURRENT ASSETS     

Cash and cash equivalents  8 6,771,107 6,847,835 

Trade and other receivables  9 189,032 231,571 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 10 844,312 610,213 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS   7,804,451 7,689,619 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS     

Receivables 11 594,300 619,300 

Plant and equipment  12 66,819 76,877 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS   661,119 696,177 

TOTAL ASSETS   8,465,570 8,385,796 

CURRENT LIABILITIES     

Trade and other payables  13 149,686 318,250 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES   149,686 318,250 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   149,686 318,250 

NET ASSETS   8,315,884 8,067,546 

EQUITY     

Issued capital  14 12,353,350 11,793,350 

Reserves  15(a) 2,758,513 2,327,753 

Accumulated losses 15(b) (6,795,979) (6,053,557) 

TOTAL EQUITY   8,315,884 8,067,546 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

Notes 
Contributed 

Equity 

Share-Based 
Payments 
Reserve 

Accumulated 
Losses Total 

Consolidated  $ $ $ $ 

BALANCE AT 1 JULY 2011  7,298,749 2,133,907 (2,046,510) 7,386,146 

Loss for the year 15(b) - - (4,007,047) (4,007,047) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  - - (4,007,047) (4,007,047) 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR CAPACITY AS 
OWNERS      

Shares issued during the year 14 4,494,601 - - 4,494,601 

Employee and consultant share-based payments 15(a) - 193,846 - 193,846 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2012  11,793,350 2,327,753 (6,053,557) 8,067,546 

Loss for the year 15(b) - - (742,422) (742,422) 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  - - (742,422) (742,422) 

TRANSACTIONS WITH OWNERS IN THEIR CAPACITY AS 
OWNERS      

Shares issued during the year 14 560,000 - - 560,000 

Employee and consultant share-based payments 15(a) - 430,760 - 430,760 

BALANCE AT 30 JUNE 2013  12,353,350 2,758,513 (6,795,979) 8,315,884 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
 

YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 Notes Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Payments to suppliers and employees   (754,722) (638,742) 

Interest received   325,570 462,790 

Proceeds on sale of mining interests  200,000 5,000 

Expenditure on mining interests   (2,093,701) (3,689,920) 

Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  1,285,765 2,866,244 

Payments for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (336,000) - 

Refund of income taxes  853,656 - 

Income taxes paid  (99,456) (10,673) 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  24 (618,888) (1,005,301) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Payments for plant and equipment   (69,313) (40,245) 

Proceeds on sale of plant and equipment  26,473 - 

Refund of tenement bonds  25,000 - 

NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   (17,840) (40,245) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Proceeds from issues of ordinary shares   560,000 4,494,601 

NET CASH INFLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   560,000 4,494,601 

NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS   (76,728) 3,449,055 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year   6,847,835 3,398,780 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR  8 6,771,107 6,847,835 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

30 JUNE 2013 

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 

consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting 

of Montezuma Mining Company Limited and its subsidiaries. The financial statements are presented in the Australian currency. 

Montezuma Mining Company Limited is a company limited by shares, domiciled and incorporated in Australia. The financial statements 

were authorised for issue by the directors on 24 September 2013. The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial 

statements. 

 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 

issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the Corporations Act 2001. Montezuma Mining Limited is a for-profit entity 

for the purpose of preparing the financial statements. 

(i) Compliance with IFRS 

The consolidated financial statements of the Montezuma Mining Limited Group also comply with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

(ii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group 

None of the new standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 July 2012 

affected any of the amounts recognised in the current period or any prior period and are not likely to affect future periods. However, 

amendments made to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements effective 1 July 2012 now require the statement of comprehensive 

income to show the items of comprehensive income grouped into those that are not permitted to be reclassified to profit or loss in a future 

period and those that may have to be reclassified if certain conditions are met. 

(iii) Early adoption of standards 

The Group has not elected to apply any pronouncements before their operative date in the annual reporting period beginning 1 July 2012. 

(iv) Historical cost convention 

These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets at 

fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value. 

 

(b) Principles of consolidation 

(i) Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

(“Company” or “parent entity”) as at 30 June 2013 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Montezuma Mining 

Company Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating 

policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The existence and effect of potential voting 

rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date 

that control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the Group. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 

also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries 

have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position respectively. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of Montezuma Mining Company Limited. 

(ii) Changes in ownership interests 

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity owners of 

the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling 

interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling 

interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Montezuma 

Mining Company Limited. 
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When the Group ceases to have control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair 

value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 

subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, jointly controlled entity or financial asset. In addition, any amounts 

previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the group had directly disposed of 

the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to 

profit or loss. 

If the ownership interest in a jointly controlled entity or associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained, only a 

proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where 

appropriate. 

 

(c) Segment reporting 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision maker. The 

chief operating decision maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has 

been identified as the full Board of Directors. 

 

(d) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. The Group recognises revenue when the amount of 

revenue can be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity. 

Interest income 

Interest revenue is recognised on a time proportionate basis that takes into account the effective yield on the financial assets. 

 

(e) Income tax 

The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the applicable 

income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to 

unused tax losses. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting 

period in the countries where the Company’s subsidiaries and associated operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It 

establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 

liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from 

initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 

neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or 

substantially enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 

income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future taxable 

amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and when 

the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a 

legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 

income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

(i) Investment allowances and similar tax incentives 

The Group may be entitled to claim special tax deductions for investments in qualifying assets or in relation to qualifying expenditure (eg 

the Research and Development Tax Incentive regime in Australia or other investment allowances). The Group accounts for such 

allowances as tax credits, which means that the allowance reduces income tax payable and current tax expense or creates an income tax 

receivable and current tax benefit. 
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(f) Leases 

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Company, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 

classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short-

term and long-term payables. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit 

or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease 

term. 

Leases where a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Company as lessee are classified as 

operating leases (note 20). Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to profit or 

loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

 

(g) Impairment of assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, 

or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are reviewed for impairment 

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of 

an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels 

for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of 

assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of 

the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 

For statement of cash flows presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial 

institutions, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to 

known amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. 

 

(i) Trade and other receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less a provision for any uncollectible debts. An estimate for doubtful 

debts is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written-off as incurred. 

 

(j) Investments and other financial assets 

Classification 

The Company classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 

receivables, held-to-maturity investments and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 

investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets 

classified as held-to-maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if 

acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are classified as held for trading unless they are designated 

as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 

They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified 

as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the statement of financial position. 

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets quoted in an active market with fixed or determinable payments and 

fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other 

than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-for-

sale. Held-to-maturity financial assets are included in non-current assets, except for those with maturities less than 12 months from the 

reporting date, which are classified as current assets. 

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in 

this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to 

dispose of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. Investments are designated available-for-sale if they do not have fixed 

maturities and fixed or determinable payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. 



 
 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 
 

30 JUNE 2013 

1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd) 

23 

Financial assets - reclassification 

The Group may choose to reclassify a non-derivative trading financial asset out of the held-for-trading category if the financial asset is 

no longer held for the purpose of selling it in the near term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be 

reclassified out of the held-for-trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is unusual and highly unlikely 

to recur in the near term. In addition, the Group may choose to reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and 

receivables out of the held-for-trading or available-for-sale categories if the Group has the intention and ability to hold these financial 

assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost as applicable, 

and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for 

financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the reclassification date. Further 

increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates prospectively. 

Recognition and derecognition 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the Company commits to purchase or 

sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value 

through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transaction costs 

are expensed to the statement of comprehensive income. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the 

financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership. 

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are included in the 

statement of comprehensive income as gains and losses from investment securities. 

Measurement 

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through 

profit or loss, transactions costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets 

carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. 

Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Gains or 

losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category are presented in the 

statement of comprehensive income within other income or other expenses in the period in which they arise. Dividend income from 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as part of revenue from 

continuing operations when the Group’s right to receive payments is established. 

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed 

between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the 

security. The translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in 

carrying amount are recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as 

available-for-sale are recognised in equity. 

Details on how the fair value of financial investments is determined are disclosed in note 2. 

Impairment 

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 

assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective 

evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that 

loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be 

reliably estimated. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of 

the security below its cost is considered an indicator that the assets are impaired. 

(i) Assets carried at amortised cost 

For loans and receivables, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value 

of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original 

effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised in profit or loss. If a loan or 

held-to-maturity investment has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective 

interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an instrument’s 

fair value using an observable market price. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring 

after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognised 

impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 
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(ii) Assets classified as available-for-sale 

If there is objective evidence of impairment for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or 

loss – is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment losses on equity instruments that were recognised in profit or loss are not reversed through profit or loss in a subsequent 

period. 

If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases in a subsequent period and the increase can be objectively 

related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or 

loss. 

 

(k) Plant and equipment 

All plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 

acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable 

that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 

carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance 

are charged to the statement of comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated using the reducing balance method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of 

their residual values, over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leasehold improvements and certain leased plant and equipment, 

the shorter lease term. The rates vary between 20% and 40% per annum. 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount (note 1(g)). 

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included in the statement of 

comprehensive income. When revalued assets are sold, it is Company policy to transfer the amounts included in other reserves in respect 

of those assets to retained earnings. 

 

(l) Exploration and evaluation costs 

Exploration and evaluation costs are written off in the year they are incurred. 

 

(m) Trade and other payables 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Company prior to the end of the financial year which are 

unpaid. The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and are paid on normal commercial terms. 

 

(n) Employee benefits 

(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the 

reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date and are measured at the 

amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii)  Share-based payments 

The Company provides benefits to employees (including directors) of the Company in the form of share-based payment transactions, 

whereby employees render services in exchange for shares or rights over shares (‘equity-settled transactions’), refer to note 26. 

The cost of these equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are 

granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Black-Scholes option pricing model. 

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the 

performance conditions are fulfilled, ending on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award (‘vesting 

date’). 

The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at each reporting date until vesting date reflects (i) the extent to which 

the vesting period has expired and (ii) the number of options that, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, will ultimately vest. 

This opinion is formed based on the best available information at balance date. No adjustment is made for the likelihood of market 

performance conditions being met as the effect of these conditions is included in the determination of fair value at grant date. 

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition. 

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised 

for the award is recognised immediately. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and designated as a 

replacement award on the date that it is granted, the cancelled and new award are treated as if they were a modification of the original 

award. 
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(o) Issued capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the 

proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not included in 

the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration. 

 

(p) Earnings per share 

(i) Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding any costs of servicing 

equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for 

bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the after income 

tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 

shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

(q) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense. 

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or 

payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position. 

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are 

recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flows. 

 

(r) New accounting standards and interpretations 

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2013 reporting periods. The 

Group’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out below. 

AASB 9: Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, AASB 2010-7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) and AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian 

Accounting Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures (effective from 1 January 2015) 

This Standard is applicable retrospectively and includes revised requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 

instruments, as well as recognition and derecognition requirements for financial instruments. The Group has not yet determined any 

potential impact on the financial statements. 

The key changes made to accounting requirements include: 

 simplifying the classifications of financial assets into those carried at amortised cost and those carried at fair value; 

 simplifying the requirements for embedded derivatives; 

 removing the tainting rules associated with held-to-maturity assets; 

 removing the requirements to separate and fair value embedded derivatives for financial assets carried at amortised cost; 

 allowing an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on investments in equity instruments that are not 

held for trading in other comprehensive income. Dividends in respect of these investments that are a return on investment can be 

recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or recycling on disposal of the instrument; 

 requiring financial assets to be reclassified where there is a change in an entity’s business model as they are initially classified based 

on: (a) the objective of the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and (b) the characteristics of the contractual 

cash flows; and 

 requiring an entity that chooses to measure a financial liability at fair value to present the portion of the change in its fair value due to 

changes in the entity’s own credit risk in other comprehensive income, except when that would create an accounting mismatch. If 

such a mismatch would be created or enlarged, the entity is required to present all changes in fair value (including the effects of 

changes in the credit risk of the liability) in profit or loss. 
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AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards and AASB 2010–2:  Amendments to Australian Accounting 

Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 

123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Interpretations 2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]  

(applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 July 2013) 

AASB 1053 establishes a revised differential financial reporting framework consisting of two tiers of financial reporting requirements for 

those entities preparing general purpose financial statements: 

 Tier 1: Australian Accounting Standards; and 

 Tier 2: Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 

Tier 2 of the framework comprises the recognition, measurement and presentation requirements of Tier 1, but contains significantly 

fewer disclosure requirements. 

The following entities are required to apply Tier 1 reporting requirements (ie full IFRS): 

 for-profit private sector entities that have public accountability; and 

 the Australian Government and state, territory and local governments. 

Since the Group is a for-profit private sector entity that has public accountability, it does not qualify for the reduced disclosure 

requirements for Tier 2 entities. 

AASB 2012–2 makes amendments to Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations to give effect to the reduced disclosure 

requirements for Tier 2 entities.  It achieves this by specifying the disclosure paragraphs that a Tier 2 entity need not comply with as well 

as adding specific “RDR” disclosures. 

AASB 2010–10: Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Removal of Fixed Dates for First-time Adopters [AASB 

2009–11 & AASB 2011–7] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 2009–11: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9, and 

AASB 2011–7: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 2010). 

The amendments brought in by this Standard ultimately affect AASB 1: First-time Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards and 

provide relief for first-time adopters from having to reconstruct transactions that occurred before their transition date. 

[The amendments to AASB 2009–11 will only affect early adopters of AASB 2009–11 (and AASB 9: Financial Instruments that was 

issued in December 2009) as it has been superseded by AASB 2010–7.] 

This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

AASB 1054: Australian Additional Disclosures (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard is as a consequence of phase 1 of the joint Trans-Tasman Convergence project of the AASB and FRSB. 

This Standard relocates all Australian specific disclosures from other standards to one place and revises disclosures in the following 

areas: 

 compliance with Australian Accounting Standards; 

 the statutory basis or reporting framework for financial statements; 

 whether the financial statements are general purpose or special purpose; 

 audit fees; and 

 imputation credits. 

This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

AASB 2011-2: Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence project – Reduced 

disclosure regime [AASB 101 & AASB 1054] (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013) 

This Standard makes amendments to the application of the revised disclosures to Tier 2 entities that are applying AASB 1053. 

This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 

AASB 10: Consolidated Financial Statements (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard establishes a new control model that applies to all entities. It replaces parts of AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 

Financial Statements dealing with the accounting for consolidated financial statements and Interpretation 112Consolidation – Special 

Purpose Entities. 

The new control model broadens the situations when an entity is considered to be controlled by another entity and includes new guidance 

for applying the model to specific situations, including when acting as a manager may give control, the impact of potential voting rights 

and when holding less than a majority voting rights may give control. This Standard is not expected to impact the Group. 
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AASB 11: Joint Arrangements (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard replaces AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures and Interpretation 113 Jointly-Controlled Entities – Non-monetary 

Contributions by Ventures. AASB 11 uses the principle of control in AASB 10 to define joint control, and therefore the determination of 

whether joint control exists may change. In addition, AASB 11 removes the option to account for jointly controlled entities (JCEs) using 

proportionate consolidation. Instead, accounting for a joint arrangement is dependent on the nature of the rights and obligations arising 

from the arrangement. Joint operations that give the venturers a right to the underlying assets and obligations themselves is accounted for 

by recognising the share of those assets and obligations. Joint ventures that give the venturers a right to the net assets is accounted for 

using the equity method. This may result in a change in the accounting for the joint arrangements held by the Group. 

AASB 12: Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard includes all disclosures relating to an entity’s interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structures 

entities. New disclosures have been introduced about the judgements made by management to determine whether control exists, and to 

require summarised information about joint arrangements, associates and structured entities and subsidiaries with non-controlling 

interests. The Group has not yet determined any potential impact on the financial statements. 

AASB 13: Fair Value Measurement (applies to periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013) 

This Standard establishes a single source of guidance under AASB for determining the fair value of assets and liabilities. AASB 13 does 

not change when an entity is required to use fair value, but rather, provides guidance on how to determine fair value under AASB when 

fair value is required or permitted by AASB. Application of this definition may result in different fair values being determined for the 

relevant assets. 

AASB 13 also expands the disclosure requirements for all assets or liabilities carried at fair value. This includes information about the 

assumptions made and the qualitative impact of those assumptions on the fair value determined. The Group has not yet determined any 

potential impact on the financial statements. 

AASB 119: Employee Benefits (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2013) 

The main change introduced by this standard is to revise the accounting for defined benefit plans. The amendment removes the options 

for accounting for the liability, and requires that the liabilities arising from such plans is recognized in full with actuarial gains and losses 

being recognized in other comprehensive income. It also revised the method of calculating the return on plan assets. The definition of 

short-term benefits has been revised, meaning some annual leave entitlements may become long-term in nature with a revised 

measurement. Similarly the timing for recognising a provision for termination benefits has been revised, such that provisions can only be 

recognised when the offer cannot be withdrawn. 

Consequential amendments were also made to other standards via AASB 2012-10. 

Interpretation 20: Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine (applicable for annual reporting periods commencing on 

or after 1 January 2013) 

This interpretation applies to stripping costs incurred during the production phase of a surface mine. Production stripping costs are to be 

capitalised as part of an asset, if an entity can demonstrate that it is probable future economic benefits will be realised, the costs can be 

reliably measured and the entity can identify the component of an ore body for which access has been improved. This asset is to be called 

the “stripping activity asset”. 

The stripping activity asset shall be depreciated or amortised on a systematic basis, over the expected useful life of the identified 

component of the ore body that becomes more accessible as a result of the stripping activity. The units of production method shall be 

applied unless another method is more appropriate. 

 

(s) Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The preparation of these financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to 

exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 

complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are: 

Share based payment transactions 

The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at 

the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by an internal valuation using a Black-Scholes option pricing model, 

using the assumptions detailed in note 26. 



 
 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 
 

30 JUNE 2013 

28 

2. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), 

credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. 

Risk management is carried out by the full board of directors as the Group believes that it is crucial for all board members to be involved 

in this process. The managing director, with the assistance of senior management as required, has responsibility for identifying, 

assessing, treating and monitoring risks and reporting to the board on risk management. 

 

(a) Market risk 

(i) Foreign exchange risk 

As all operations are currently within Australia, the Group is not exposed to any material foreign exchange risk. 

(ii) Price risk 

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk. This arises from investments held by the Group and classified in the statement of 

financial position as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Given the current level of operations, the Group is not currently 

exposed to commodity price risk. 

The Group’s equity investments are publicly traded on the ASX, with the investments being made for strategic purposes identified by the 

Board of Directors. The price risk is monitored by the Board and evaluated in accordance with these strategic outcomes. 

Sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2013, if the value of the equity instruments held had increased/decreased by 15% with all other variables held constant, post-

tax loss for the Group would have been $126,647 lower/higher, with no changes to other equity balances, as a result of gains/losses on 

equity securities classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (2012: $210,523 lower/higher loss). 

(iii) Interest rate risk 

The Group is exposed to movements in market interest rates on cash and cash equivalents. The Group policy is to monitor the interest 

rate yield curve out to six months to ensure a balance is maintained between the liquidity of cash assets and the interest rate return. The 

entire balance of cash and cash equivalents for the Group $6,771,107 (2012: $6,847,835) is subject to interest rate risk. The proportional 

mix of floating interest rates and fixed rates to a maximum of six months fluctuate during the year depending on current working capital 

requirements. The weighted average interest rate received on cash and cash equivalents by the Group was 4.6% (2012: 5.8%). 

Sensitivity analysis 

At 30 June 2013, if interest rates had changed by -/+ 80 basis points from the weighted average rate for the year with all other variables 

held constant, post-tax loss for the Group would have been $66,850 lower/higher (2012: $64,250 lower/higher) as a result of 

lower/higher interest income from cash and cash equivalents. 

 

(b) Credit risk 

The Group does not have any significant concentrations of credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at balance date is the 

carrying amount (net of provision for impairment) of those assets as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the 

financial statements. 

As the Group does not presently have any debtors, lending, significant stock levels or any other credit risk, a formal credit risk 

management policy is not maintained. 

 

(c) Liquidity risk 

The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and ensuring sufficient cash and marketable 

securities are available to meet the current and future commitments of the Group. Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being 

mineral exploration, the Group does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the primary source of funding being equity raisings. 

The Board of Directors constantly monitor the state of equity markets in conjunction with the Group’s current and future funding 

requirements, with a view to initiating appropriate capital raisings as required. 

The financial liabilities of the Group are confined to trade and other payables as disclosed in the Statement of financial position. All trade 

and other payables are non-interest bearing and due within 12 months of the reporting date. 

 

(d) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure purposes. 

All financial assets and financial liabilities of the Group at the balance date are recorded at amounts approximating their carrying amount. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. The quoted market 

price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 

short-term nature. 
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3. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

For management purposes, the Group has identified only one reportable segment being exploration activities undertaken in Australia. 

This segment includes activities associated with the determination and assessment of the existence of commercial economic reserves, 

from the Group’s mineral assets in this geographic location. 

Segment performance is evaluated based on the operating profit and loss and cash flows and is measured in accordance with the Group’s 

accounting policies. 

Exploration segment    

    

Segment revenue  - - 

Reconciliation of segment revenue to total revenue before tax:    

Interest revenue  310,315 465,145 

Total revenue  310,315 465,415 

    

Segment results  (1,936,108) (2,821,055) 

Reconciliation of segment result to net loss before tax:    

Other corporate and administration  1,193,686 (1,185,992) 

Net loss before tax  (742,422) (4,007,047) 

    

Segment operating assets  - - 

Reconciliation of segment operating assets to total assets:    

Other corporate and administration assets  8,465,570 8,385,796 

Total assets  8,465,570 8,385,796 

    

Total assets includes additions to plant and equipment:    

Other corporate and administration  41,397 67,006 

 

 

4. REVENUE    

From continuing operations     

Other revenue     

Interest   310,315 465,145 

 

5. OTHER INCOME    

Net gain on sale of mining interests  200,000 125,000 

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  1,183,864 - 

  1,383,864 125,000 

 

6. EXPENSES    

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:    

 Minimum lease payments relating to operating leases   157,877 122,890 

 Defined contribution superannuation expense  94,156 80,717 

 Net loss on disposal of plant and equipment  800 - 

 Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  - 262,544 
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7. INCOME TAX    

(a) Income tax benefit    

Current tax  - - 

Deferred tax  - - 

(Under)/over provision  (842,983) - 

  (842,983) - 

    

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 

payable    

Loss from continuing operations before income tax expense  (1,585,405) (4,007,047) 

     

Prima facie tax benefit at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2012: 30%)   (475,621) (1,202,114) 

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating 

taxable income:    

Share-based payments  129,228 58,154 

Other  11,064 180,136 

  (335,329) (963,824) 

    

Movements in unrecognised temporary differences  3,631 314,971 

Tax effect of current year tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been 

recognised  331,698 648,853 

(Under)/over provision  (842,983) - 

Income tax benefit  (842,983) - 

(c) Unrecognised temporary differences     

Deferred Tax Assets (at 30%)    

On Income Tax Account     

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  110,203 99,701 

Accruals and provisions  32,285 31,404 

Carry forward tax losses  919,355 1,329,053 

  1,061,843 1,460,158 

    

Deferred Tax Liabilities (at 30%)    

Accrued income  5,866 10,442 

  5,866 10,442 

Net deferred tax assets were not brought to account as it was not considered probable within the immediate future that tax profits would 

be available against which deductible temporary differences and tax losses could be utilised. 
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8. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
  

Cash at bank and in hand   459,659 81,792 

Short-term deposits  6,311,448 6,766,043 

Cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of financial position and 

the statement of cash flows  6,771,107 6,847,835 

Cash at bank and in hand earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of 

the Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. 

 

9. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  
  

Sundry receivables  176,328 222,645 

Prepayments  12,704 8,926 

   189,032 231,571 

 

10. CURRENT ASSETS - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

Australian listed equity securities  844,312 610,213 

The market value of all equity investments represent the fair value based on quoted prices on active markets (ASX) as at the reporting 

date without any deduction for transaction costs. These investments are classified as Level 1 financial instruments. There have been no 

transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy used in measuring the fair value of these financial instruments, or changes in its 

classification as a result of a change in the purpose or use of these assets. 

Changes in fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in other income or other expenses in the 

statement of comprehensive income (notes 5 and 6 respectively). 

 

11. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES  
  

Environmental bond  594,300 619,300 

 

12. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  
  

Plant and equipment     

Cost   117,252 130,266 

Accumulated depreciation   (50,433) (53,349) 

Net book amount   66,819 76,877 

Movements:     

Opening net book amount   76,877 47,180 

Additions   41,397 67,006 

Disposals  (27,273) (4,093) 

Depreciation charge   (24,182) (33,216) 

Closing net book amount   66,819 76,877 

 

13. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES  
  

Trade payables   36,127 188,948 

Other payables and accruals   113,559 129,302 

   149,686 318,250 
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14. ISSUED CAPITAL      

(a) Share capital      

Ordinary shares fully paid 14(b), 14(d) 70,464,350 12,353,350 67,664,350 11,793,350 

Total issued capital  70,464,350 12,353,350 67,664,350 11,793,350 

 

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital    

Beginning of the financial year   67,664,350 11,793,350 48,848,345 7,298,749 

Issued during the year:      

 Issued on exercise of 20 cent options  2,800,000 560,000 12,178,825 2,417,165 

 Issued for cash at 20 cents  - - 1,637,180 327,436 

 Issued on exercise of 35 cent options  - - 5,000,000 1,750,000 

End of the financial year  70,464,350 12,353,350 67,664,350 11,793,350 

 

(c) Movements in options on issue   

  Number of options 

   2013 2012 

Beginning of the financial year    8,925,000 24,678,825 

Issued during the year:      

 Exercisable at 41 cents, on or before 21 October 2015   - 375,000 

 Exercisable at 80 cents, on or before 30 November 2015   - 1,500,000 

 Exercisable at 27.5 cents, on or before 14 January 2016   1,000,000 - 

 Exercisable at 32.5 cents, on or before 30 November 2016   3,000,000 - 

 Exercisable at 38 cents, on or before 30 November 2017   3,000,000 - 

Options exercise (35 cents, 23 July 2011)   - (1,500,000) 

Options exercised (20 cents, 31 August 2011)   - (11,878,825) 

Options exercised (35 cents, 31 August 2011)   - (3,500,000) 

Options exercised (20 cents, 2 March 2012)   - (300,000) 

Options exercised (20 cents, 30 November 2012)   (2,800,000) - 

Options expired (20 cents, 2 March 2012)   - (400,000) 

Options expired (20 cents, 30 November 2012)   (250,000) - 

Options expired (35 cents, 30 November 2012)   (50,000) - 

Options cancelled (41 cents, 21 October 2015)   - (50,000) 

End of the financial year    12,825,000 8,925,000 

 

(d) Ordinary shares 

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number 

of and amounts paid on the shares held. 

On a show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy, is entitled to one vote, and upon a poll 

each share is entitled to one vote. 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 



 
 Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued 
 

33 

30 JUNE 2013  Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

14. ISSUED CAPITAL (cont’d)    

(e) Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going concern, so that they may continue to 

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

Due to the nature of the Group’s activities, being mineral exploration, the Group does not have ready access to credit facilities, with the 

primary source of funding being equity raisings. Therefore, the focus of the Group’s capital risk management is the current working 

capital position against the requirements of the Group to meet exploration programmes and corporate overheads. The Group’s strategy is 

to ensure appropriate liquidity is maintained to meet anticipated operating requirements, with a view to initiating appropriate capital 

raisings as required. The working capital position of the Group at 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012 are as follows: 

    

Cash and cash equivalents  6,771,107 6,847,835 

Trade and other receivables   189,032 231,571 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  844,312 610,213 

Trade and other payables  (149,686) (318,250) 

Working capital position   7,654,765 7,371,369 

 

15. RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS    

(a) Reserves    

Share-based payments reserve    

Balance at beginning of year   2,327,753 2,133,907 

Employee and contractor share options and performance rights  430,760 193,846 

Balance at end of year   2,758,513 2,327,753 

    

(b) (Accumulated losses)/Retained earnings    

Balance at beginning of year   (6,053,557) (2,046,510) 

Net loss for the year   (742,422) (4,007,047) 

Balance at end of year   (6,795,979) (6,053,557) 

 

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves 

Share-based payments reserve 

The share-based payments reserve is used to recognise the fair value of options issued. 

 

16. DIVIDENDS 

No dividends were paid during the financial year.  No recommendation for payment of dividends has been made. 

 

17. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

(a) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term benefits  606,941 384,463 

Post employment benefits  44,129 22,445 

Other long-term benefits  - - 

Termination benefits  - - 

Share-based payments  418,404 156,300 

  1,069,474 563,208 

 

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 5 to 7. 
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17. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (cont’d) 

(b) Equity instrument disclosures relating to key management personnel 

(i) Options provided as remuneration and shares issued on exercise of such options 

Details of options provided as remuneration and shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with terms and conditions of the 

options, can be found in the remuneration report on page 6 and 7. 

 

(ii) Option holdings  

The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Montezuma Mining 

Company Limited and other key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, are set out below: 

 

2013 Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Granted as 

compensation Exercised 

Other 

changes 

Balance at 

end of the 

year 

Vested and 

exercisable Unvested 

Directors of Montezuma Mining Company Limited      

Seamus Cornelius 3,500,000 1,500,000 - - 5,000,000 4,250,000 750,000 

Justin Brown 3,000,000 3,000,000 (2,000,000) - 4,000,000 2,500,000 1,500,000 

John Ribbons 1,500,000 1,500,000 (500,000) - 2,500,000 1,750,000 750,000 

Other key management personnel of the Group      

Michael Moore -(1) 2,000,000 - - 2,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 

(1) Balance held at date of promotion to CEO, 15 January 2013. 

All vested options are exercisable at the end of the year. 

 

2012 Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Granted as 

compensation Exercised 

Other 

changes 

Balance at 

end of the 

year 

Vested and 

exercisable Unvested 

Directors of Montezuma Mining Company Limited      

Seamus Cornelius 3,567,500 500,000 (567,500) - 3,500,000 3,500,000 - 

Justin Brown 6,012,500 500,000 (1,012,500) (2,500,000) 3,000,000 3,000,000 - 

John Ribbons 1,138,334 500,000 (138,334) - 1,500,000 1,500,000 - 

 

(iii)  Share holdings 

The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Montezuma Mining Company Limited and 

other key management personnel of the Company, including their personally related parties, are set out below. There were no shares 

granted during the reporting period as compensation. 

 

2013 

Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Received 

during the 

year on the 

exercise of 

options 

Other changes 

during the 

year 

Balance at end 

of the year 

Directors of Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

Ordinary shares 

    

Seamus Cornelius 2,868,655 - 195,570 3,064,225 

Justin Brown 2,112,500 2,000,000 - 4,112,500 

John Ribbons 291,671 500,000 (291,671) 500,000 

Other key management personnel of the Group 

Ordinary shares     

Michael Moore -(1) - 20,000 20,000 

(1) Balance held at date of promotion to CEO, 15 January 2013. 
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17. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (cont’d) 

2012 

Balance at 

start of the 

year 

Received 

during the 

year on the 

exercise of 

options 

Other changes 

during the 

year 

Balance at end 

of the year 

Directors of Montezuma Mining Company Limited 

Ordinary shares 

    

Seamus Cornelius 2,301,155 567,500 - 2,868,655 

Justin Brown 1,100,000 1,012,500 - 2,112,500 

John Ribbons 153,337 138,334 - 291,671 

 

(iv)  Performance Right holdings 

As part of Mr Michael Moore’s employment agreement he will be entitled to be issued with 500,000 fully paid ordinary shares upon 

achieving performance hurdles. The performance conditions for these rights are in relation to the Butcherbird Manganese Project 

(“Project”) as follows: 

 150,000 will vest on delivery to customer of the first commercial shipment of DSO manganese ore from the Project; 

 150,000 will vest on completion of Feasibility Study on the large scale commercial production of beneficiated manganese from 

the Project; and 

 200,000 will vest on delivery to customer of the first commercial shipment of beneficiated manganese ore from the Project. 

The rights expire on 15 March 2017. 

 

(c) Loans to key management personnel  

There were no loans to key management personnel during the year.  

 

  Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

18. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS    

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related practices and 

non-related audit firms: 

Audit services     

Rothsay Chartered Accountants - audit and review of financial reports   55,500 44,409 

Total remuneration for audit services   55,500 44,409 

 

19. CONTINGENCIES 

There are no material contingent liabilities or contingent assets of the Company at balance date. 

 

20. COMMITMENTS    

(a) Exploration commitments    

The Company has certain commitments to meet minimum expenditure requirements on the mineral exploration assets it has an interest 

in. Outstanding exploration commitments are as follows: 

 

within one year  1,010,880 873,880 

later than one year but not later than five years   4,043,520 3,495,520 

  5,054,400 4,369,400 
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  $ $ 

20. COMMITMENTS (cont’d)    

(b) Lease commitments: Group as lessee    

Operating leases (non-cancellable):    

Minimum lease payments      

within one year   230,515 222,720 

later than one year but not later than five years   719,113 949,628 

Aggregate lease expenditure contracted for at reporting date but not 

recognised as liabilities   949,628 1,172,348 

The property lease is a non-cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent payable monthly in advance. The rental agreement provides 

for a fixed rent increase of 3.5% on each anniversary date. The lease allows for subletting of all lease areas subject to permission from 

the lessor. 

 

21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

(a) Parent entity 

The ultimate parent entity within the Group is Montezuma Mining Company Limited. 

 

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 22. 

 

(c) Key management personnel  

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 17. 

 

22. SUBSIDIARY 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance with the 

accounting policy described in note 1(b): 

Name Country of Incorporation Class of Shares Equity Holding(1)   

    2013 2012 

    % % 

Peak Hill Metals Pty Ltd(2) Australia Ordinary 100 100 

(1) The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 

(2) The Company has entered into an option agreement with Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd, a wholly owned subsidiary of Resource 

Investment NL, whereby Grosvenor Gold Pty Ltd may acquire 100% of the Company’s interest in the Peak Hill Project by the 

acquisition of Peak Hill Metals Pty Ltd. 

 

23. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION DATE 

No matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2013, which has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the operations of 

the Company, the result of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Company in subsequent financial years.  
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  $ $ 

24. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS    

Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash outflow from operating 

activities    

Loss for the year   (742,422) (4,007,047) 

Non-Cash Items     

Depreciation of non-current assets   24,182 33,216 

Loss on disposal of plant and equipment  800 4,093 

Employee and consultants share-based payments   430,760 193,846 

Change in operating assets and liabilities    

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables  42,539 (117,654) 

(Increase)/decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (234,099) 3,008,788 

(Decrease) in trade and other payables  (140,648) (120,543) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (618,888) (1,005,301) 

 

25. EARNINGS PER SHARE    

(a) Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating loss per share    

Loss attributable to the owners of the Company used in calculating basic and 

diluted earnings per share   (742,422) (4,007,047) 

    

  Number of shares Number of shares 

  2013 2012 

(b) Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator    

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in 

calculating basic and diluted loss per share  69,444,761 64,751,720 

    

(c) Information on the classification of options    

As the Group has made a loss for the year ended 30 June 2013, all options on issue are considered antidilutive and have not been 

included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share. This has resulted in the diluted earnings per share being the same as the basic 

earnings per share. These options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future.  
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26.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 

(a) Employees and Contractors Option Plan 

The Company provides benefits to employees (including directors) and contractors of the Company in the form of share-based payment 

transactions, whereby employees render services in exchange for options to acquire ordinary shares. The exercise price of the options 

granted range from 27.5 cents to 80 cents per option. All options granted have expiry dates ranging from 14 December 2013 to 30 

November 2017. 

Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of the Company 

with full dividend and voting rights. 

 

Fair value of options granted 

The weighted average fair value of the options granted during the year was 7.1 cents (2012: 10.0 cents). The price was calculated by 

using the Black-Scholes European Option Pricing Model applying the following inputs: 

 

 2013 2012 

Weighted average exercise price (cents) 34.1 72.2 

Weighted average life of the option (years) 4.29 4.00 

Weighted average underlying share price (cents) 22.64 39.00 

Expected share price volatility 50% 50% 

Risk free interest rate 2.75% 4.55% 

Historical volatility has been used as the basis for determining expected share price volatility as it assumed that this is indicative of future 

trends, which may not eventuate.  

 

(b) Options issued to suppliers 

As part consideration for services associated with the initial public offering of the Company and as part consideration for the acquisition 

of tenement interests, suppliers were issued with listed options in the Company. A total of 1,850,000 options were issued with an exercise 

price of 20 cents which expired on 31 August 2011. 

Options granted carried no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option was convertible into one ordinary share of the 

Company with full dividend and voting rights. 

 

Fair value of options granted 

The listed options granted are valued at the market closing price on the date that the options are allotted. There were no options issued to 

suppliers during the current or prior year. 

Set out below are summaries of the share-based payment options granted per (a) and (b): 

 

 2013 2012 

 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
cents 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 

cents 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year  8,925,000 41.7 12,750,000 35.5 

Granted  8,000,000(1) 31.6 1,875,000 72.2 

Forfeited  - - (50,000) 41.0 

Exercised  (2,800,000) 20.0 (4,250,000) 25.3 

Expired  (300,000) 22.5 (1,400,000) 30.7 

Outstanding at year-end  13,825,000 45.2 8,925,000 41.7 

Exercisable at year-end  9,825,000 50.6 8,925,000 41.7 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 2.73 years (2012: 1.71 

years), and the exercise prices range from 27.5 cents to 80 cents. 

(1) 1,000,000 of the options granted during the 2013 financial year are yet to vest and be issued, and the exercise price will not be known 

until the date of vesting and allotment (the exercise price will be set at a 50% premium to the 30 day volume weighted average price 

of the Company’s shares traded on ASX at allotment (vesting date)). For the purposes of this table, the exercise price has been 

assumed as 14 cents, being a 50% premium to the closing price on 30 June 2013. 
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26.   SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont’d) 

(c) Employees and contractors performance rights 

The Group provides benefits to employees (including directors) and contractors of the Group in the form of share-based payment 

transactions, whereby performance rights over ordinary shares are issued as an incentive to improve employee and shareholder goal 

congruence. Performance rights granted to directors have no expiration date. 

Performance rights granted carry no dividend or voting rights. When each performance condition is satisfied, each performance right is 

converted into one ordinary share of the Company with full dividend and voting rights. 

Set out below are summaries of the performance rights granted: 

 

 2013 2012 

Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - 

Granted  1,500,000 - 

Forfeited/cancelled - - 

Exercised  - - 

Expired  - - 

Outstanding at year-end  1,500,000 - 

 

The weighted average fair value of performance rights granted during the year was 25.7 cents (2012: N/A). The fair value was calculated 

by reference to the closing share price on the date of each grant of performance rights. 

 

(d) Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions 

  Consolidated 

  2013 2012 

  $ $ 

Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period were as follows: 

 

Options granted to employees and contractors 401,520 193,846 

Performance rights granted to employees and contractors 29,240 - 

 430,760 193,846 

 

27. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION    

The following information relates to the parent entity, Montezuma Mining Company Limited, at 30 June 2013. The information 

presented here has been prepared using accounting policies consistent with those presented in Note 1. 

 Parent Entity 

 2013 2012 

 $ $ 

Current assets  7,802,176 7,586,369 

Non-current assets  663,394 1,396,179 

Total assets  8,465,570 8,982,548 

    

Current liabilities  149,686 915,002 

Total liabilities  149,686 915,002 

    

Issued capital  12,353,350 11,793,350 

Share-based payments reserve  2,758,513 2,327,753 

Accumulated losses  (6,795,979) (6,053,557) 

Total equity  8,315,884 8,067,546 

    

Loss for the year  (742,422) (4,007,047) 

Total comprehensive income for the year  (742,422) (4,007,047) 
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Directors' Declaration 
 

In the directors’ opinion: 

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 16 to 39 are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting 

requirements; and 

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the Company’s financial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the financial 

year ended on that date; 

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable; 

and 

(c) a statement that the attached financial statements are in compliance with International Financial Reporting Standards has been 

included in the notes to the financial statements. 

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section 295A of the 

Corporations Act 2001. 

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 

Justin Brown 

Executive Director 

Perth, 24 September 2013 
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ASX Additional Information 
 

Additional information required by Australian Stock Exchange Ltd and not shown elsewhere in this report is as follows.  The information 

is current as at 24 September 2013. 

 

(a)  Distribution of equity securities 

Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding: 

 Ordinary shares 

   Number of holders Number of shares 

1 - 1,000 52 16,001 

1,001 - 5,000 181 571,886 

5,001 - 10,000 136 1,160,704 

10,001 - 100,000 303 10,449,629 

100,001  and over 75 58,266,130 

   747 70,464,350 

The number of equity security holders holding less than a marketable parcel of securities 

are:  234 593,015 

 

(b)  Twenty largest shareholders 

Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 

The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted ordinary shares are: 

  Listed ordinary shares 

 
 Number of shares 

Percentage of 

ordinary shares 

1 JP Morgan Nom Aust Ltd <Cash Income A/C> 6,244,862 8.86 

2 Duketon Mining Ltd 5,382,500 7.64 

3 Ranguta Ltd 5,326,375 7.56 

4 Zero Nom Pty Ltd 4,475,000 6.35 

5 Alpha Boxer Ltd 4,002,500 5.68 

6 Duketon Consolidated Pty Ltd 3,150,000 4.47 

7 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd <J & A Brown Fam A/C> 3,007,500 4.27 

8 Alpha Boxer Ltd 2,343,334 3.33 

9 Avania Nom Pty Ltd 2,000,000 2.84 

10 Kongming Inv Ltd 1,297,018 1.84 

11 Mandies Meats Pty Ltd 1,151,796 1.63 

12 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd 1,030,000 1.46 

13 Ranguta Ltd 1,018,350 1.45 

14 Actdine Pty Ltd <Cunningham S/F A/C> 1,000,000 1.42 

15 Sino West Assets Ltd 885,398 1.26 

16 Kongming Inv Ltd 735,570 1.04 

17 Ristovski Nom Pty Ltd <Ristovski S/F No 2> 700,000 0.99 

18 Dianne Claire Grammer 650,000 0.92 

19 Julie Avotins 625,976 0.89 

20 Goldtrek Pty Ltd <Lewis A/C> 618,750 0.88 

  45,644,929 64.78 

 

(c)  Substantial shareholders 

The names of substantial shareholders who have notified the Company in accordance with section 671B of the Corporations Act 2001 

are: 

 Number of Shares 

Duketon Mining Ltd 5,382,500 

Marcel Mandanici 4,699,935 

Justin Brown 4,112,500 

 

(d)  Voting rights 

All ordinary shares (whether fully paid or not) carry one vote per share without restriction. 
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(e)  Schedule of interests in mining tenements 

Location Tenement Percentage held / earning 

Butcher Bird Copper E52/2350 100 

Butcher Bird Copper E52/2658 100 

Butcher Bird Copper E52/2727 100 

Robinson Range P52/1227 100 

Robinson Range P52/1233 70 

Mt Padbury E52/1529 100 

Peak Hill Gold E52/2237 100 

Peak Hill Gold E52/2413  100 

Peak Hill Gold E52/2471 100 

Peak Hill Gold E52/2472 100 

Peak Hill Gold M52/35 100 

Peak Hill Gold M52/474 100 

Peak Hill Gold M52/56 100 

Peak Hill Gold M52/297 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1343 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1344 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1345 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1348 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1234 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1417 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1418 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1419 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/2 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/19 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/20 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/39 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/62 100 

Peak Hill Gold L52/63 100 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1189 85 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1190 85 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1191 85 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1192 85 

Peak Hill Gold P52/1193 85 

Peak Hill Gold M52/801 85 

Peak Hill Regional E52/2647 100 

Peak Hill Regional E52/2759 100 

Eelya Hill E20/659 100 

Eelya Hill P20/2018 100 

Jubuk E70/4465 100 

Pilbara E45/2375 10 

Pilbara E45/3793 100 
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(f) Unquoted Securities 

At 24 September 2013, the Company had the following unlisted securities on issue: 

   Holders of 20% or more of the class 

Class 

Number of 

Securities 

Number of 

Holders Holder Name 

Number of 

Securities 

Unlisted $0.275 Options, Expiry 14 January 2016 1,000,000 1 Michael Moore 1,000,000 

Unlisted $0.325 Options, Expiry 30 November 2016 3,000,000 3 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd   1,500,000 

   Kongming Investments Ltd 750,000 

   Antoinette Janet Ribbons 750,000 

Unlisted $0.38 Options, Expiry 30 November 2017 3,000,000 3 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd   1,500,000 

   Kongming Investments Ltd 750,000 

   Antoinette Janet Ribbons 750,000 

Unlisted $0.41 Options, Expiry 21 October 2015 325,000 6 Trevor Saul 100,000 

   Michael Giles 100,000 

Unlisted $0.58 Options, Expiry 14 December 2013 3,000,000 1 Kongming Investments Ltd 3,000,000 

Unlisted $0.65 Options, Expiry 30 November 2015 1,000,000 2 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd   500,000 

   Antoinette Janet Ribbons 500,000 

Unlisted $0.80 Options, Expiry 30 November 2015 1,500,000 3 Aradia Ventures Pty Ltd   500,000 

   Kongming Investments Ltd 500,000 

   Antoinette Janet Ribbons 500,000 

Performance Rights A 500,000 1 Michael Moore 500,000 

Performance Rights B 1,000,000 1 Mark Gunther 1,000,000 

 

 




